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every day, new ideas are conceived. these ideas 
germinate and eventually transform into dynamic 
innovations that potentially alter human experience. 
Innovations spur economic growth. they also 
contribute to the betterment of society and the 
world at large. As a knowledge economy and 
innovation hub, Singapore is well placed to capture 
the vast inventive potential and creations of our 
citizens and residents. 

through the administration of a trustworthy 
and effective system of intellectual property 
(Ip) protection, a nation is able to harness these 
creative energies and forge a common consensus 
to not only protect the fruits of creation, but to 
stimulate investment, financial and other strategies 
to realise unimaginable rewards for generations of 
inventors to follow.

Building a World-Class ip regiMe

Ip is fast becoming an important asset class and a key 
driver of economic growth in our region. According 
to the 2013 edition of the World Intellectual 
property Indicators, patent filings worldwide in 2012 
registered the fastest growth in 18 years, at a rate 
of 9.2%. the same year also saw a first for patent 
grants, with more than one million patent granted 
worldwide. trade mark applications and plant variety 
applications experienced modest growth at 6% and 
1.8% respectively, while industrial designs captured 
a record growth of 17%, an unprecedented number 
since design count became available in 2004. 

to help Singapore stay adaptive, spry and relevant 
to the demands of a complex and rapidly evolving 
globalised Ip landscape, the Singapore Government 
accepted recommendations for the implementation 
of a 10-year Ip Hub Master plan in April 2013. the 
Master plan called for the periodic and systematic 
review of our Ip policies and regime, as well as the 
initiation of many new measures and programmes. 
over the past year, we have seen significant progress 
made on a number of fronts. there will be no 
abatement to this progress.

on the local business front, IpoS has been working 
to assist innovators and enterprises to build a 
competitive edge with Ip. We launched Ip2SG, an all-

new one-stop integrated e-filing portal that provides 
applicants with greater time and cost efficiencies 
when they undertake patent filing processes. the 
portal will be enhanced to include trade marks and 
designs modules for an even more seamless end-
user experience. Initiatives such as Ip2SG represent 
our continued commitment to render Ip more 
accessible to innovators and enterprises who are 
serious about Ip protection.

on the international front, IpoS has and will 
continue to work closely with key partners such 
as the World Intellectual property organization 
(WIpo) and other Ip offices to share and exchange 
best practices, to ensure that Singapore’s Ip regime 
remains responsive and connected to international 
trends. As the chair of the ASeAn Working Group 
for Ip Cooperation (AWGIpC), we will continue 
to collaborate with our ASeAn neighbours 
through platforms such as ASpeC and the ASeAn 
Community of practice forum.  Beyond ASeAn, 
IpoS will continue to forge links and expand our 
networks with the wider global community.

groWing ip CapaCity and expertise

to cater to the increased demand for quality Ip 
services, IpoS works closely with the legal and 
technology industries and business sectors to offer 
training and equip practitioners (at multiple levels) 
with the necessary competencies through the Ip 
Competency Framework (IpCF). Since the launch 
of IpCF, professional associations such as the 
Association of Singapore patent Agents, Institution 
of engineers Singapore, law Society of Singapore, 
and Singapore Business Advisors & Consultants 
Council, have come on board to co-drive the 
professionalisation of Ip skills and competencies. 
We are extremely appreciative of their support for 
the IpCF, and welcome other organisations to join 
us on this journey.

Within a span of three years, IpoS has built up a 
patent search and examination unit that is capable 
of producing world-class patent search and 
examination reports. We are also seeding capability 
to produce insightful analysis of different patent 
landscapes to support Singapore’s R&D decision-
making processes. It is our hope that Singapore 

MeSSAGe FRoM 
the ChairMan

“AS A knoWleDGe 
eConoMy, SInGApoRe 
StRIveS to Be At tHe 
FoReFRont to CAptuRe 
tHe vASt potentIAl 
AnD CReAtIonS oF ouR 
HuMAn MInD.”

will be universally recognised as one of the leading 
search and preliminary examining authorities in the 
very near future.

getting CoMMunities to eMBraCe ip 

the cultivation of an Ip-savvy nation requires a 
relentless and continuing effort to educate our 
students, and reach out to the wider public. to this 
end, IpoS is dedicated to champion tailored outreach 
programmes to our youth and the community at 
large. Specially designed comics-activity books and 
the roving “Ip expedition” programme are key drivers 
to impart Ip concepts and the value of ‘Respect for 
Ip’ to primary school students, in ways that they can 
best relate to. IpoS’ flagship public outreach event, 
World Ip Day 2013, continues to feature home-
grown creative talents that help us propagate the 
Ip mindshare, and rally mass support for Ip creators 
and originality. We are deeply appreciative of their 
participation in this effort.

ConfidenCe for the future

As we approach Singapore’s 50th year of 
independence, it is timely to be thankful. I am 
humbled by the significant progress that this office 
has achieved over the years, within the overall 
transformation of Singapore. 

this progress would not have been possible without 
the passion, drive and commitment of the Chief 
executive and his dynamic management team, as 
well as my colleagues on the Board of Directors. 
thank you all for your contributions and support. 

I am particularly appreciative of all our partners 
and stakeholders, and thank them for their 
unwavering support and commitment to the larger 
mission, that is to build even better infrastructure 
and Ip services for Singapore to achieve its vision –  
a Global Ip Hub in Asia. 

dr stanley lai
Chairman
Intellectual property office of Singapore

DR StAnley lAI
CHAIRMAn
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Ip has been recording steady growth in international 
Ip filings and research spending in today’s knowledge 
economy. In line with this positive global trend, Ip 
continues to grow in importance as a key driver of 
Singapore’s economy. At IpoS, our commitment 
is to build and promote a vibrant Ip ecosystem for 
ideas and innovations to take flight in and beyond 
Singapore. 

groWing singapore’s ip seCtor

our Ip ecosystem has indicated positive growth 
for Calendar year (Cy) 2013/14. notably, design 
applications in 2013 increased by 7.6% as compared 
to 2012. local filings for patents have gone up by 
close to 6% year-on-year. trade marks filings through 
the international route of Madrid protocol have also 
increased by 19%.
 
Along with the increase in demand for Ip services, 
more than 300 high value-added jobs were also 
created in the Ip sector at the close of 2013. they are 
mainly from four key areas - legal and technology 
industries, Ip service providers and the business 
advisory service sector. this signals a growing 
recognition and confidence in Ip as an important 
asset class, as well as competitive advantage for 
local businesses and creators.

strengthening the ip eCosysteM

to gain a foothold in today’s global markets, it is 
imperative that IpoS continues to strengthen our 
Ip regime through the professionalising of our Ip 
ecosystem and providing quality assurance for Ip 
standards in Singapore. Following the launch of the 
first-of-its-kind Ip Competency Framework (IpCF), 
the Singapore Business Advisors & Consultants 
Council, the law Society of Singapore, Association 

MeSSAGe FRoM 
the Chief exeCutive

of Singapore patent Agents and Institution of 
engineers Singapore have inked a Memorandum 
of understanding (Mou) with us to oversee the 
progression and development of Ip professionals 
and practitioners in these respective industries. this 
significant move puts us on course to create even 
more high value-added jobs in Singapore and better 
serve the growth in demand for Ip services.

Another initiative to enhance our suite of Ip services 
is the introduction of a new patent legislation known 
as the “positive grant system” which will help raise 
the overall quality of patents granted in Singapore. 
this initiative aligns Singapore’s practices closer 
with those in major international markets like 
europe, Japan and the united States. Innovators and 
businesses will enjoy significant improvements in the 
quality of their filed patents with IpoS and have their 
applications accelerated to major markets with a net 
time saving of 50%.

spurring greater innovation

Ideas and innovation continue to be important 
capital for Singapore. IpoS launched our first 
integrated one-stop Ip Service Centre – Ip 101 - to 
support creators, innovators and businesses with 
their Ip needs. It offers a comprehensive suite of Ip 
products and services, such as Ip management and 
consultation, and provides effective linkages to the 
Ip community.

An equally important effort to catalyse local 
innovation here was the introduction of a $100m Ip 
Financing Scheme. local creators and businesses 
may now use their granted patents as collaterals 
for bank loans. this will open up a new avenue for 
companies to access funding to grow and expand 
through their Ip.

serving as a gloBal ip partner

Given Singapore’s strategic location, we are well 
positioned to play a bridging role for regional and 
international Ip transactions and service the growing 
needs of foreign businesses that are expanding into 
Asia. As a mark of confidence in our robust Ip regime, 
the united kingdom’s Ip office (ukIpo) started their 
attaché appointment in 2013 and the French national 
de la propriété Intellectuelle (InpI) relocated their 
attaché to Singapore in 2013.

We continue to build a connected Ip network within 
ASeAn member states and champion the ASeAn 
patent examination Cooperation (ASpeC) that aims 
to enhance business efficiency for companies. to 
increase cross-border Ip cooperation, Singapore 
has also signed a Mou with the national office of 
Ip of vietnam and will see stronger collaborations 
in promoting Ip utilisation and more assistance to 
businesses seeking Ip protection in both countries. 
this Mou, amongst others signed with countries 
like Japan and korea, help strengthen bilateral 
cooperation and build our ability to better serve the 
increasing Ip needs within the region.

looking ahead

IpoS will continue to advance on our journey to 
become an Ip hub of Asia. As the custodian of 
ideas and innovation, our purpose is to empower 
and be a trusted partner for all creators. to these 
ends, I look forward to another exciting year of 
collaboration and uncharted Ip progress with all 
our partners and stakeholders.

Mr tan yih san
Chief executive
Intellectual property office of Singapore

“AS An Ip HuB oF ASIA, 
We WIll ContInue to 
WoRk CloSely WItH 
ouR StAkeHolDeRS AnD 
pARtneRS to FoSteR A 
vIBRAnt Ip MARketplACe 
In SInGApoRe AnD 
ARounD tHe WoRlD.”

MR tAn yIH SAn
CHIeF exeCutIve
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Board of direCtors
AS oF 31 AuGuSt 2014

dr stanley lai

Chairman
Intellectual Property Office of Singapore

partner and Head of Ip practice
Allen & Gledhill LLP

prof freddy Boey

Deputy president and provost
Nanyang Technological University

Mr tan yih san

Chief executive
Intellectual Property 
Office of Singapore

Mr aBhiJit ghosh

partner, International tax; leader, 
pharmaceutical / life Sciences 
practice; and Head, India Desk
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Ms deBorah ho

Managing Director and Head of 
Senior Relationship Management 
for Southeast Asia
Barclays Bank

Mr keoy soo earn

partner and Southeast Asia leader 
of Mergers & Acquisitions practice
Deloitte Singapore
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Board of direCtors
AS oF 31 AuGuSt 2014

Ms JaCqueline poh

Managing Director
Infocomm Development 
Authority of Singapore

Mr poon hong yuen

Deputy Secretary
Ministry of Law 

Mr guy proulx

Chairman and Ceo
Transpacific IP Group Ltd

Mr suresh saChi

Deputy Managing Director (Corporate & legal) 
and General Counsel
Agency for Science, Technology and Research

Mr kevin theseira

International Ip Counsel
Keysight Technologies Singapore 
(Holdings) Pte Ltd
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organisation Chart

Board of directors

strategic planning & 
policy department

deputy Chief executive deputy Chief executive

registries & legal Cluster Corporate services group promotion Cluster
patent search & 

examination unit
Capacity Building group hearings & Mediation group

Chief executive

internal audit department

• Customer Service & 
Information Department

• legal Department

• Registry of patents / 
Designs / plant varieties

• Registry of trade Marks

• Finance Department

• Human Capital Department

• Information technology 
Department

• Communications & 
engagement Department

• enterprise Development 
Department

• International engagement 
Department

• Ip 101

• Capability Development 
Department

MeMBers of the ipos faMily

ip academy (ipa)
executive director

ipos international (ipos-i)
executive director
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senior ManageMent
AS oF 31 AuGuSt 2014

dr Bernard ong

Director
International engagement 
Department

Mr Chig kaM taCk

Director
Ip 101

Ms Christina liM

Director
Communications & 
engagement Department

Mr tan yih san

Chief executive

Ms MiChelle tan

Director
enterprise Development 
Department

Mr ng kok Wan

Group Director
patent Search & 
examination unit

Mr alan ng

Director
IpoS International

proMotion Cluster
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senior ManageMent
AS oF 31 AuGuSt 2014

Mr Mark liM

Director
Hearings & Mediation 
Group

dr eriC gan

Director
Capability Development 
Department

Mr kok kitt-Wai

Director
Ip Academy

Mr daren tang

Deputy Chief executive
Registries and legal 
Cluster

Mr siMon seoW

Group Director
Registry of patents / 
Designs / plant varieties

Mrs ang-ong Bee lian

Director
Customer Service and 
Information Department

Ms tan Mei lin

Director
Registry of trade Marks

Ms ChiaM lu lin

Deputy Chief executive
Capacity Building, Hearings 
& Mediation and Ip Academy 
Cluster

CapaCity Building, hearings & Mediation 
and ip aCadeMy Cluster registries and legal Cluster
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senior ManageMent
AS oF 31 AuGuSt 2014

Corporate profile

ouR MISSIon
to provide the infrastructure, build expertise and 
grow the ecosystem in support of the greater 
creation, protection and exploitation of Ip

ouR vISIon
An Ip hub of Asia

ouR CoRpoRAte 
puRpoSe
A trusted partner to empower creators of our 
knowledge economy

ouR CoRe vAlueS
Integrity
professionalism
teamwork
people-focused

Mr ng Beng liM

Director
Information technology 
Department

Mr Woo yeW Chung

Group Director
Corporate Services Group

Ms Joan koh

Director
Finance Department

Corporate serviCes group
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ipos 
Journey

apr’13

• Launch of IP 
Competency 
Framework

• World IP Day 
celebration

apr’14

• Launch of expert 
determination 
option

• Appointment of IP 
adjudicators

• Opening of IP 101

• Launch of IP 
Financing Scheme

Mar’14

• Expansion of 
plant varieties 
protection Act

feB’14

• Launch of positive 
grant system

• Launch of IP2SG

• Incorporation of 
IpoS International

Jul’13

• Singapore 
chaired ASeAn 
Working Group 
on Ip Cooperation 
meeting

• Launch of IP 
expedition

aug’13

Ip Week @ SG 2013
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INSPIRING IdeaS 

Beyond 
Borders

We will continue to foster deeper 
collaborations with countries around 
the world to sustain our current 
growth trajectory and maintain this 
edge for the future.



ConvergenCe of ip thought leaders: 
ip Week @ sg 2013

Held from 26 to 30 August 2013, the premier Ip 
conference – Ip Week @ SG 2013 was attended by 
more than 1,300 delegates from 35 countries. the 
conference offered participants valuable insights 
into the global Ip domain. luminaries and Ip thought 

“Singapore is ready to play a facilitative role as an IP hub and serve as a springboard for companies 
looking at expanding their presence in the region.”

– Deputy prime Minister, Mr teo Chee Hean

inspiring ideas Beyond 
Borders

Ip fuels innovation and economic growth around the world. Buoyed by the Internet and highly globalised 
connectivity, trailblazers can now collaborate with moguls in different countries despite language and 
cultural differences. local enterprises are expanding into regional markets through different Ip routes such as 
collaborations, franchising and licensing arrangements.  

As the gateway to the Asian markets, our ability to create and enhance the value of our Ip services for the 
region will be integral to the success of establishing Singapore as a testbed to market innovations and be a 
centre-stage for Ip activities. 

leaders delivered presentations on topics such 
as utilising Ip as a strategic instrument in a global 
knowledge economy. 

Deputy prime Minister, Coordinating Minister for 
national Security, Minister for Home Affairs and 
Chairman of the national Research Foundation, 
Mr teo Chee Hean, was the guest of honour at the 

anchor event - the 4th Global Forum on 
Intellectual property (GFIp). 

At the Gala Dinner during the Ip 
Week @ SG 2013, IpoS and the World 
Intellectual property organization 
(WIpo) presented the inaugural WIpo-
IpoS Innovation Awards to the top 
local corporate users of the patent 
Cooperation treaty, Madrid and Hague 
systems as administered by WIpo.

Catering to the region’s 
deMands: searCh & 
exaMination 

last year, IpoS assembled the pioneer  
team of highly qualified examiners who 
are capable of performing patent search 
and examination in a wide range of 
technical fields. Comprising mostly phD-
trained talents from an extensive range 
of technical specialisations, our patent 

Search and examination unit seeks to 
raise the overall quality of patents granted 
locally and align our practices to that of 
established regimes. 

to lay the foundation for building a 
patent office of repute and significance 
with the ability to cater to the Ip needs 
in Singapore and the region, we will be 
attracting more talents to join us as 
patent examiners in the later part of 2014.   

1,300

35
delegates from

countries 
attended Ip 
Week @ SG 2013

More than
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Closer Bilateral relations

last year, we signed Memorandum of understandings 
(Mous) with Mexico, Brazil, vietnam and Germany to 
enhance cooperation among the Ip offices. to date, 
IpoS has prosecution Highway (ppH) programmes 
with the united States of America, Mexico, Japan, 
korea and China. through the ppHs, companies filing 
a patent in Singapore may have their applications 
accelerated to major markets in less than half of the 
time taken previously. 

on 27 February 2014, the nine heads 
of ASeAn Member States Intellectual 
property offices (AMS-Ipos) and 
european patent office president 
Benoît Battistelli gathered in Cambodia 
for the signing of the first regional 
Memorandum of Co-operation (MoC) on 
Industrial property. this was a significant 
step towards fostering stronger 
cooperation in the field of patents. With 
this development, businesses will benefit 
from greater market access in Southeast 
Asia and europe. 

Strong collaborative relationships 
between the AMS-Ipos have made 
ASeAn patent examination Co-

MexIco
BRazIl
VIetNaM
GeRMaNy

Countries IpoS 
signed Mous 
with in 2013

Working together as an asean faMily

the year 2013 marked the beginning of an exciting 
journey for Singapore as we strengthened our 
partnerships with the ASeAn Ip counterparts to boost 
cross-border cooperation. together with our direct 
neighbours, we hope to provide an interconnected Ip 
system for businesses in the region.

operation (ASpeC) possible and we 
are steadily making progress with the 
programme. thus far, all ASpeC requests 
have been fulfilled and followed up with 
official reaction within six months from 
the date of filing. 

An ASeAn Community of practice for 
patent examiners was also formed in 
August 2013. patent examiners from the 
participating nations are now able to 
access and refer to one another’s reports 
for similar patent applications. 

these initiatives will tremendously reduce 
the time and cost to obtain a patent in 
ASeAn and this will only serve our 
applicants better.
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INSPIRING IdeaS foR

Creators,  
innovators & 
Businesses

As a trusted partner for innovators, 
creators and businesses, we seek 
to create greater opportunities that 
will position them on the world map 
and add value to their brands.



providing aCCess to ip serviCes and 
solutions

on 8 April 2014, Ip 101, Singapore’s first-ever 
dedicated Ip service centre, was launched to much 
fanfare. Ms Indranee Rajah, Senior Minister of State 
for law and education, graced the opening event 
which was attended by over 100 members from the 
community. 

IP 101

S$100M

Singapore’s first 
dedicated Ip 
service centre

Intellectual 
property (Ip) 
Financing 
Scheme was 
launched in April

inspiring ideas for Creators, 
innovators and Businesses

Singapore is home to enterprises with the moxie to innovate. thanks to its pocket-sized speaker that boosts 

surround sound, xMI has managed to penetrate into over 80 countries. In 2013, eyeFly3D, the brainchild 

of temasek polytechnic and the Agency for Science, technology and Research (A*StAR), was introduced. 

A world’s first, this invention is a plastic film that allows users to view 3D content in both portrait and 

landscape modes. these are some examples of local companies who recognised the value of Ip and have 

incorporated Ip into their business strategies.

As Singapore-based companies gain greater recognition globally, we strive to offer them greater access to Ip 

services and solutions to build their competitive edge with Ip. 

“Companies can visit IP 101 to learn how to navigate the dynamic business and 
IP terrains in markets such as China and India, through networking events and 
training programmes. ”

– Senior Minister of State for education and law, Ms Indranee Rajah

A one-stop shop, Ip 101 offers five key solutions 
for the community: Ip advisory services; access to 
Ip information; facilitation of Ip filings; Ip outreach 
activities; and multi-disciplinary Ip education and 
training.   

In addition to Ip filing 
and registration services, 
companies can visit Ip 101 to 
seek assistance in building 
their Ip management 
capability under the SCope 
Ip programme. SCope Ip is 
a diagnostic methodology 
developed by IpoS that 
helps businesses assess the 
strengths and weaknesses 
of their existing Ip portfolios 
and systems.
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helping Businesses groW With ip

the Ip scene was greatly enlivened in 2014 as we 
saw new initiatives launched and the revitalisation 
of existing operations that expand the breadth and 
depth of the services we offer to businesses. In early 
April 2014, a S$100 million Ip Financing Scheme was 
launched. under this new scheme, asset-light but 
Ip-rich enterprises can use their granted patents as 
collaterals for bank loans. this scheme demonstrated 
the growing importance of intangible assets such as 
Ip as a currency in today’s knowledge economy. 

Beyond the scheme, we have also set up business 
and legal clinics at Ip 101 where business owners 
can seek advice on Ip-related issues. Highly popular 

Ip Consult sessions were also organised to equip 
businesses with essential Ip and Ip management 
knowledge so that they can incorporate Ip into their 
business strategies. 

CoMMenCeMent of positive grant 
regiMe 

the patents (Amendment) Act 2012 and the 
patents (Amendment) Rules 2014 came into 
operation on 14 February 2014. the amendments 
effected the move from a self-assessment system 
to a positive grant system for patents. this will raise 
the overall quality of patents granted in Singapore 
and strengthen investor confidence for made-in-
Singapore products and services.

iMproving proCesses for 
positive outCoMes

In December 2013, the Registry of 
trade Marks embarked on a project to 
revamp the Search and pick facility. 
enhancements were made to the existing 
features. By automating the examination 
of specifications, productivity and 
efficiency is expected to increase.

trade mark applicants were able to 
better manage their Ip costs and 
expectations with greater predictability 
on the outcome of their applications 
with the Search and pick facility. the 
enhanced system enabled applicants 
to select relevant goods and services 
from IpoS’s classification of goods and 
services database. 

streaMlining dispute 
resolutions

leveraging on Singapore’s established 
international reputation for impartial 
and efficient courts, we constantly 
aim to raise the overall capabilities in 
resolving Ip disputes and have made 

headway in our progress to be a hub for 
Ip dispute resolution.

As we continue to promote the use of 
mediation in resolving Ip disputes, we 
have implemented a new procedure 
to encourage disputing parties to 
work towards a win-win situation. the 
newly introduced expert determination 
option will allow parties to submit their 
patent disputes to an expert of their 
choice to make an assessment of the 
situation at hand. 

this flexible yet confidential procedure 
gives involved parties customisable 
options in settling their Ip disputes. parties 
can also mutually agree on the expert to 
be engaged, decide on the duration of the 
expert determination process, and in turn 
enjoy substantial time and cost savings.  

In addition, a panel of Ip adjudicators 
comprising some of the best legal minds in 
the local Ip field was also established. the 
panel will preside over selected Ip disputes 
filed at IpoS and will also augment the 
existing specialist tribunal at IpoS.

PoSItIVe 
GRaNt 
SySteM

A move to raise 
overall quality of 
patent grants
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More user-friendly initiatives and 
measures have been put in place to 
foster deeper collaborations that will 
strengthen our core competencies 
and raise the overall industry 
capabilities. the end in mind is to 
create a pleasant Ip experience for 
all our stakeholders.

INSPIRING IdeaS foR

  ip 
professionals



understanding our stakeholders’ needs 

It is of paramount importance that we learn about and understand our stakeholders’ needs, so that we may 
continue to provide tools and services that are tailored to their interests. With these goals in mind, IpoS 
looked into fine-tuning internal processes for greater efficiency. 

In early 2014, we implemented a Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system. Among the new tools 
that were introduced, the CRM system consolidates and manages all the stakeholders’ information in a central 
location that is shared across the whole of IpoS. this gave us real-time access to a 360-degree view of our 
engagements with respective stakeholders at one glance. the insights gathered will therefore enable us to 
better design our future campaigns based on the stakeholders’ profiled interests.

Conducted annually, the customer satisfaction survey was carried out to gather stakeholders’ feedback so 
as to identify potential service gaps. the findings were shared with our patent and trade mark agents at the 
annual dialogue session helmed by IpoS’ senior management.

Designed by our very own trade mark examiners, IpoS also developed an ICGS AutoChecker search engine 
that helps examiners to check for inaccuracies in the classification of goods and services during the trade 
mark examination stage. By utilising a colour-coded system, any errors in the specification of goods and 
services will be highlighted instantly to the examiners. this internal tool thus greatly reduces the turnaround 
time in processing the trade mark applications.

Building a quality WorkforCe

In cultivating a globally competitive 
Ip workforce that is equipped with 
specialised Ip skill sets, IpoS launched 
the Ip Competency Framework (IpCF) in 
April 2013. Most useful for stakeholders 
who are keen in pursuing a professional 
career in the Ip industry, the IpCF maps 
out the competencies required for 

MaNy
fIRStS IN 
2013/14
launch of CRM 
system

launch of IpCF

WIpo Singapore 
Summer School

inspiring ideas for 
ip professionals

proMoting ease of e-filing

In February 2014, we completed the migration of our 
e-patents services to Ip2SG, an all-new integrated 
e-services portal. In its entirety, Ip2SG represents the 
gateway to access Ip filings in Singapore. 

Applicants and businesses are now able to use this 
new system to file their patent applications online 
efficiently and easily. Future enhancements in the 
later part of the year will also include modules for 
trade mark and design filings. 

different Ip job roles and projects suitable 
career pathways for the respective 
career verticals. taking reference from 
well-established global practices, the 
IpCF spans across legal, technology and 
business clusters. IpCF sets the scene 
for Singapore to strategically position 
ourselves to better service global clients 
with Ip needs as they explore more 
growth opportunities in Asia. 

4
Mous were signed 
with renowned 
institutions:
• World 

Intellectual 
property office 
(united nations)

• the Franklin 
pierce Centre for 
Ip (u.S.A.)

• CeIpI (europe) 
• Guangzhou 

knowledge City 
Administrative 
Committee 
(China)
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enaBling greater aCCess to training 
and eduCation 

2013 saw strong take-up rate in our flagship 
Graduate Certificate in Intellectual property law 
(GCIp) programme conducted by our training 
arm, the Ip Academy (IpA). With the introduction 
of modularisation track for the GCIp programme, 
students will enjoy greater programme flexibility at a 
lower cost as they will be able to select and register 
for the course on a modular basis.

For the year in review, we witnessed a record-breaking 
number of 2,501 participants who registered for IpA’s 
training programmes. 

Another first, the inaugural WIpo Singapore 
Summer School was launched in June 2013. 30 
young professionals from 12 countries attended 
the two-week multi-disciplinary curriculum to 
gain an appreciation of Ip knowledge as a tool 
for economic, social, cultural and technological 
developments. Besides attending lectures, 
the participants were engaged in interactive 
discussions and purposeful site visits.

Maintaining a roBust ip regiMe

Singapore continues to partake 
actively in Free trade Agreement (FtA) 
negotiations as we believe these will 
connect Singapore to major economies 
and new markets. IpoS, particularly, is 
proud to play an instrumental role in 
the negotiations of Ip Chapters in such 
agreements that will potentially shape 
global Ip protection standards.

In 2013, IpoS was involved in a number 
of FtAs such as the ongoing trans-pacific 
partnership Free trade Agreement (tpp 
FtA) and the Regional Comprehensive 
economic partnership Free trade 
Agreement (RCep FtA). 

As part of the european union-Singapore 
Free trade Agreement (euS FtA), we are 
also committed to enhance the existing 
protection regime of geographical 
indications (GI). We took the initiative to 
spearhead the work on the GI Bill 2014 
that will provide greater protection for 
registered GIs for agricultural products 
and foodstuffs, and raise them to the 
same level of importance as that of 
registered GIs for wines and spirits. 

these new legal provisions under the GI 

Bill 2014 will enable a comprehensive 
registration system for GIs that will 
help to prove the validity of GIs in legal 
proceedings and allow owners of all 
registered GIs to gain access to improved 
border enforcement measures. 

proMoting soCial good With ip

While we undertake extensive efforts to 
incentivise our Ip services, we are also 
keenly aware of the different ways in 
which Ip can be used to help improve 
the social good in Singapore. last year, 
we embarked on implementing the 
Marrakesh treaty and subsequently 
making amendments to the Copyright 
Act that will offer significantly greater 
access to copyrighted works for the local 
visually-impaired community. 

under the proposed amendments, 
institutions assisting persons with reading 
disabilities will now be able to reproduce 
literary or dramatic works in a wider range 
of formats. this includes electronic books 
and other future inventions.

We believe that this move will boost 
inclusivity for the visually-impaired and 
inspire them to create their own creative 
Ip works as well.

GI BIll
was passed in 
parliament in 
April 2014

2,501
participants 
attended 
IpA’s training 
programmes
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We believe that the concerted 
outreach effort of our Honour 
Intellectual property Alliance (HIp) 
programme which is geared towards 
promoting creativity and a healthy 
attitude towards Ip rights, will go 
a long way in shaping an Ip-savvy 
generation of tomorrow.

INSPIRING IdeaS foR 

CoMMunity & 
youth



CeleBrating World ip day 2013 With 
singapore 

Music, movies, art, technology and fashion add 
colours to Singaporeans’ lives.  the World Ip Day 2013, 
which is IpoS’s flagship public outreach initiative, is a 
brilliant celebration of all things creative.  

the event culminated in an evening finale 
show that featured artistes born and 
bred in Singapore. Singer-songwriter 
Derrick Hoh serenaded participants with 
his original compositions; dance group 
Radikal Forze put on an enthralling 
dance performance; and designer Jo 
Soh dazzled with a live 3D-effect video 
mapping fashion show. the evening 
ended on a high note with an outdoor 
screening of the popular Disney movie 
“Wreck-It, Ralph”. 

nurturing young ip ChaMpions 
through ip expedition 

now more than ever, we are keenly aware 
that our Singapore youth will play an 
integral role in shaping the future we are 
buliding today. It is therefore crucial for 
us to encourage and instil a positive Ip 
lifestyle for our younger generation.

2,000
Members of 
the public 
participated in 
the World Ip 
Day 2013

More than

inspiring ideas for the 
CoMMunity & youth

Robust communication and advanced technology infrastructures readily give Singaporeans access to ample 
original works. opportunities for Singaporeans to create are bountiful as well. 

this made Ip ubiquitous. exactly because anyone can be an Ip creator, there is a greater need to raise Ip 
awareness and respect so that everyone will understand and appreciate the effort that goes into an original 
piece of creative work and why that deserves respect and protection.

More than 2,000 members of the public from all 
walks of life participated in the full day affair. Fun 
and entertainment flowed, thanks to the Ip-themed 
photo booths, hands-on community artwork, and 
free treats from our local F&B favourites. 

56,000
primary school 
students were 
successfully 
reached by Ip 
expedition

More than
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one of our key initiatives that address this need is the 
launch of a brand-new outreach programme in July 
2013. Ip expedition featured Ip mascot, HIp (Honour 
Ip), and his best friend who would visit primary 
schools to perform an interactive skit encompassing 
copyright concepts and copyright dilemmas 
frequently encountered by our young children today.

At the close of Fy 2013, our Ip expedition has 
successfully reached out to over 56,000 primary 
school students. With this encouraging success, there 
are plans to continue this engagement approach 
with our younger generation. 

ipos style Challenge: 
igniting passion 

In a natural extension to reach out to the 
tertiary school students, we launched the 
IpoS Style Challenge in november 2013. It 
was a competition that gave students an 
opportunity to conceive uniform designs 
for our customer service representatives 
at the one-stop Ip service centre, Ip 101. 
entries were judged on their uniqueness 
and practicality as well as how they 
portrayed the IpoS brand identity.

In collaboration with industry 
stakeholders, the winning team was 
mentored by one of Singapore’s top 
local designers, Ms Jo Soh of hansel. 
these students were able to work closely 
with her to materialise the uniform they 
designed and at the same time, better 
understand the fashion industry which 
they will be stepping into in the very 
near future. 

laSalle 
colleGe 
of the 
aRtS

the winning 
uniform design 
came from 
students of 
lasalle College 
of the Arts
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the new IpoS lightbulb symbolises 
innovation, creativity and ingenuity, 
while the bright gradient of orange 
to yellow represents the dynamism 
and forward-looking nature of IpoS. 
We believe that this vibrant design 
truly identifies the core of IpoS and 
the people that drive the progress 
of our organisation.

INSPIRING IdeaS By INSPIRING 

people



estaBlishMent of ipos 
professional sCheMe

We recognise that it is highly important 
to maintain IpoS’ talent attraction and 
retention. In Jan 2014, IpoS established 
a professional scheme of service for 
legal Counsels, patent examiners and 
trade Mark examiners. this initiative will 
allow the organisation to better attract, 
develop and engage skilled manpower 
of specialised fields, which will in turn 
help to grow our capabilities in making 
Singapore an Ip hub of Asia.

Continual ip training and 
upgrading

We strongly believe that all our officers 
shall be equipped with Ip knowledge 

and it is also critical that we stay up-to-
date with the latest Ip developments. to 
achieve this, we will continue to invest 
in Ip-related training for our people and 
ensure that every IpoS officer undergoes 
and passes the newly introduced annual 
Ip knowledge test (Ipkt). 

IpoS also encourages our officers to 
upgrade themselves in pursuing the 
Ip Competency Framework (IpCF) 
programmes by providing financial and 
time support for these endeavours. Job 
rotations within the organisation and its 
subsidiaries are made available for officers 
who are keen in broadening the breadths 
and depths of their competencies.

inspiring ideas By 
inspiring people

A motivated workforce well-equipped with good Ip knowledge is vital. As we grew over the past year, we 
readily accepted and welcomed new colleagues with even more diverse backgrounds and skill sets.

I particularly like the well-knit culture at IPOS 
and helpful behaviour of IPOSians. When 
people work together as a team, everyone 
accomplishes more.

– patent examiner, Search & examination unit, 
Dr Rahul pandey

IPOS has given me the opportunity to try out 
different job portfolios through its job rotation 
scheme, from being part of the Registry and now 
in the Procurement Team. IPOS has also been 
flexible with my school schedule and has been 
very supportive.

– executive, Finance Department, Ms nur elizah 
Binte Ab Rahman

231
Staff strength as 
of 31 March 2014
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revieW of CoMpensation fraMeWork

our people are our key resource. At IpoS, we aim to 
develop an organisation that encompasses a wide 
range of talents with specialised skill sets at both 
individual and organisational levels. With the recent 
change in the growth and opportunities in our local 
Ip ecosystem, we have undertaken a comprehensive 
review of our compensation framework.  Following 
this review, we also took steps to ensure that IpoS 
compensates competitively and recognises the 
individual performances and hard work of our 
officers who contribute to our corporate goals and 
outcomes.

Work hard and play hard

At IpoS, our people thrive in a dynamic work culture 
and we are united in our drive to build Singapore as 
an Ip hub of Asia.  this shared passion has gifted us 
a friendly camaraderie that is further strengthened 
through our staff events and festivities as we gather 
and interact with one another beyond daily work. 

In november 2013, we held our annual year-end 
Family Day at palawan Beach in Sentosa. It was 
lively and warm to see our officers and their family 
members enjoying an outdoor fun of sun and sand. 
It was indeed an event for the whole IpoS family to 
recharge and start the new year afresh.

IpoS also organises internal  festive celebrations to 
foster stronger connections among the staff. this year, 
the Search and examination unit led and executed 
the lunar new year celebrations with an exciting 
line-up of games, contests and food. IpoS also took 
the opportunity to recognise many long-time loyal 
employees with Service Awards on such occasions.

In showing appreciation to external organisations 
and individuals who had worked closely with us 
in 2013, the annual Appreciation event was then 
held in october 2013. It was a meaningful occasion 
where we thanked our corporate partners, the trade 
associations and the volunteers for their contributions 
in supporting and building Singapore’s Ip ecosystem.

staff aWards in 2013

long serviCe aWards

5 years long serviCe aWard reCipient 

Ms Huang Qinyi
Registry of patents

Mr Kok Kitt-Wai
Ip Academy

Mr Mark Lim
Hearings & Mediation Group

Ms Sally Ng 
Finance Department

Ms See Tho Sok Yee 
Hearings & Mediation Group

Ms Suriah Binte Abdul Hamid
Human Capital Department

Ms Wang Peiqi 
Human Capital Department

Ms Yeo Li Sung
Capability Development Department
 
10 years long serviCe aWard reCipient 

Ms Parveen Kaur d/o Satwan Singh
Registry of Designs

Ms Geanie Tan
Customer Service & Information Department

15 years long serviCe aWard reCipient 

Mr Chig Kam Tack
Ip 101

Mr Dan Choo
Internal Audit Department

Ms Jenny Loh
Registry of patents

Mr Ng Hong Wee
Registry of trade Marks

Ms Isabelle Tan
Ip 101

Ms Umarani d/o Rajagopal
Registry of patents

25 years long serviCe aWard reCipient 

Mr Robani Bin Amir
Ip 101

35 years long serviCe aWard reCipient 

Ms Chong Peck Cheng
Registry of trade Marks
 

MinlaW star serviCe and ps21 
star serviCe aWards 

Ms Nurhadiana Binte Mohamed Rahim 
Ip 101 

Mr Robani Bin Amir
Ip 101

national day aWards

NATIoNAL DAY CoMMeNDATIoN MeDAL

Ms Lim May Yen
Finance Department

NATIoNAL DAY LoNG SeRvICe MeDAL

Mr Robani Bin Amir
Ip 101
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ip 
registrations 

in-forCe  
at a glanCe

trade Marks

2012

3% 3% 5%

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013

patents industrial designs

326,312

336,879

45,209

46,603

12,217
12,823

A record 396,305 trade marks, 
patents, and industrial designs 

were in-force.
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2012-2013
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for the finanCial year ended
31 MarCh 2013

IntelleCtuAl pRopeRty oFFICe oF SInGApoRe
AnD ItS SuBSIDIARIeS

AuDIt AllIAnCe llp
puBlIC ACCountAntS AnD CHARteReD ACCountAntS SInGApoRe

finanCial
stateMents
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In our opinion:

(a) the accompanying statements of financial position, statements of comprehensive income, statements of 
changes in equity of the Intellectual property office of Singapore (the “office”) and the Group and the 
statement of cash flows of the Group together with the summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes thereto as set out on pages 69 to 101 are properly drawn up in accordance with 
the provisions of the Intellectual property office of Singapore Act 2001 (no. 3 of 2001) (the “Act”) and 
Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the office and the Group as at 31 March 2014 and the results and changes in equity of the office and the 
Group and changes in cash flows of the Group for the year ended on that date;

(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Group 
whether purchased, donated or otherwise have been kept in accordance with the provisions of the 
Intellectual property office of Singapore Act 2001 (no. 3 of 2001) (the “Act’);

(c) the receipts, expenditure, investment of monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the office 
during the financial year have been made in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

the Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

on behalf of the Board of Directors

____________________     ____________________   
  
Dr Stanley lai       Mr tan yih San
Chairman       Chief executive

31 July 2014

intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

stateMent By the Board of direCtors
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014           

report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Intellectual property office of Singapore (the 
“office”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 69 to 101, which comprise the statements of 
financial position of the office and the Group as at 31 March 2014, and the statements of comprehensive income 
and statements of changes in equity of the office and the Group and consolidated statement of cash flows of 
the Group for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the Intellectual property office of Singapore Act 2001 (no. 3 of 2001) 
(the “Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”), and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the 
financial statements that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, 
statement of comprehensive income and statement of changes in equity of the office are properly drawn 
up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards so as to 
present fairly, in all material respects, the state of affairs of the Group and the office as at 31 March 2014, and 
the results and changes in equity of the Group and the office and cash flows of the Group for the year ended 
on that date.

independent auditors’ report to the MeMBers of
intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
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report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Management’s Responsibility for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Management is responsible for ensuring that receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition 
and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act. this responsibility includes 
implementing accounting and internal controls as management determines as necessary to enable compliance 
with the provisions of the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial 
statements. We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. We planned and 
performed the compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, 
and investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act.  

our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, 
expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statement from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Because of the inherent limitations 
in any accounting and internal control system, non-compliances may nevertheless occur but not detected. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion on management’s compliance.  

Opinion
In our opinion:

a) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and acquisition and disposal of assets by the office 
during the year are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and

b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the office 
and of its subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors whether purchased, 
donated or otherwise.

____________________      

audit alliance llp
public Accountants and Chartered Accountants Singapore

31 July 2014

independent auditors’ report to the MeMBers of 
intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore

the group the office
note 2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

operating income
Registration fees 6 39,286,637 38,174,403 39,286,637 38,174,403

training course income 618,137 728,209 - -

other fees and charges 1,206,181 455,319 1,272,442 573,358

41,110,955 39,357,931 40,559,079 38,747,761

operating expenditure
employee benefit expenses 7 22,223,387 18,077,645 20,320,688 17,067,020

Maintenance of office premises and 
computers 6,317,656 5,147,891 6,287,049 5,114,773

Rental of office premises   2,774,500 2,518,479 2,543,918 2,295,248

General and administrative expenses 7,134,331 4,739,132 5,673,138 4,276,147

Depreciation expense 17 868,955 883,085 717,233 807,339

Development grant 22 - - 461,832 -

39,318,829 31,366,232 36,003,858 29,560,527

operating surplus 8 1,792,126 7,991,699 4,555,221 9,187,234

non-operating income
Interest income 9 479,455 410,297 479,455 410,297

surplus before grants
and contribution to Consolidated fund 2,271,581 8,401,996 5,034,676 9,597,531

grants
operating grants 23 9,488,496 4,793,145 6,770,788 2,853,630

Deferred grants amortised

- Government 10 28,830 30,709 28,830 30,709

9,517,326 4,823,854 6,799,618 2,884,339

surplus before contribution to
Consolidated fund and
taxation 11,788,907 13,225,850 11,834,294 12,481,870

Contribution to Consolidated fund 11 (2,011,831) (2,121,918) (2,011,831) (2,121,918)

income tax expense 12 - (56,600) - -

total comprehensive
income for the year 9,777,076 11,047,332 9,822,463 10,359,952

intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

stateMents of CoMprehensive inCoMe
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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the group the office
note 2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

equity
Share capital 13 614,377 285,606 614,377 285,606

Accumulated surplus 70,068,722 60,291,646 69,426,729 59,604,266

total equity 70,683,099 60,577,252 70,041,106 59,889,872

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

equivalents 14 106,304,216 86,861,043 105,183,191 85,724,475

trade receivables 15 1,915,902 2,409,905 1,672,307 2,463,183

other receivables 16 1,206,567 666,273 935,489 1,479,359

Grant receivable 23 - 66,950 - 66,950

total current assets 109,426,685 90,004,171 107,790,987 89,733,967

non-current asset
equipment 17 5,546,315 4,645,042 5,063,333 4,403,191

Investment in subsidiaries 18 - - 2 -

total non-current assets 5,546,315 4,645,042 5,063,335 4,403,191

total assets 114,973,000 94,649,213 112,854,322 94,137,158

Current liabilities
trade payables 19 4,133,385 3,192,291 4,171,277 3,354,958

other payables 20 6,814,596 4,092,859 7,513,902 5,258,822

Deferred revenue 21 2,752,099 2,242,060 2,214,646 2,145,355

Grant payable 22 - - 461,832 -

Grant received in advance 23 5,884,218 1,000,000 3,745,989 -

provision for contribution  
to Consolidated Fund 11 2,011,831 2,121,918 2,011,831 2,121,918

Income tax payable 12 33 56,600 - -

patent deposits 24 11,912,894 11,073,372 11,912,894 11,073,372

Current portion of finance 
  lease 25 69,221 83,730 69,221 83,730

Deferred capital grants 10

- Government 28,830 28,830 28,830 28,830

total current liabilities 33,607,107 23,891,660 32,130,422 24,066,985

the group the office

note 2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

non-current liabilities

Deferred revenue 21 10,656,367 10,105,284 10,656,367 10,105,284

Finance lease 25 - 19,760 - 19,760

Deferred capital grants

- Government 10 26,427 55,257 26,427 55,257

total non-current liabilities 10,682,794 10,180,301 10,682,794 10,180,301

total liabilities 44,289,901 34,071,961 42,813,216 34,247,286

net assets 70,683,099 60,577,252 70,041,106 59,889,872

intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

stateMents of finanCial position
As at March 31, 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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the group note share Capital
accumulated 

surplus total

s$ s$ s$

2014

As at 1 April 2013 285,606 60,291,646 60,577,252

equity component of Government grant 13 328,771 - 328,771

total comprehensive income
for the year - 9,777,076 9,777,076

as at 31 March 2014 614,377 70,068,722 70,683,099

2013

As at 1 April 2012 1,000 49,244,314 49,245,314

equity component of Government grant 13 284,606 - 284,606

total comprehensive income for the year - 11,047,332 11,047,332

As at 31 March 2013 285,606 60,291,646 60,577,252

the office note share Capital
accumulated 

surplus total

s$ s$ s$

2014

As at 1 April 2013 285,606 59,604,266 59,889,872

equity component of Government grant 13 328,771 - 328,771

total comprehensive income for the year - 9,822,463 9,822,463

As at 31 March 2014 614,377 69,426,729 70,041,106

2013

As at 1 April 2012 1,000 49,244,314 49,245,314

equity component of Government grant     13 284,606 - 284,606

total comprehensive income for the year - 10,359,952 10,359,952

As at 31 March 2013 285,606 59,604,266 59,889,872
 

  the group
  note 2014 2013

operating activities   s$ S$

Surplus before grants and contribution to Consolidated Fund 2,271,581 8,401,996

      Adjustments for:

           Depreciation expense 17 868,955 883,085

           Interest on finance lease 8 703 10,599

           Interest income 9 (479,455) (410,297)

           loss on disposal of equipment 169,845 8,618

     Surplus before working capital changes 2,831,629 8,894,001

     operating cash flows before working capital changes:

          (Increase) in trade and other receivables (46,291) (241,684)

          Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 3,662,328 (989,483)

          Increase in deferred revenue 1,061,123 789,230

          Increase in patent deposits 839,521 1,485,091

      Cash flows generated from operations 8,348,310 9,937,155

      Interest received 479,455 410,297

      Income tax paid 12 (56,567) -
      payment of Contribution to Consolidated Fund (2,121,918) (1,549,481)

net cash flows generated from operating activities 6,649,280 8,797,971

investing activities
      purchase of equipment (1,940,074) (1,562,792)

      proceeds on disposal of equipment - 120

net cash flows used in investing activities (1,940,074) (1,562,672)

financing activities
   Government grants received 14,439,664 5,721,195

   Fund injection by MoF in the form of equity 13 328,771 284,606

   Repayment of finance lease obligations (34,468) (13,401)

net cash flows generated from financing activities 14,733,967 5,992,400

net increase in cash and cash equivalents 19,443,173 13,227,699

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 86,861,043 73,633,344

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 14 106,304,216 86,861,043

intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

stateMents of Changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

Consolidated stateMent of Cash floWs
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

notes to the finanCial stateMents
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

1   general information

the Intellectual property office of Singapore (the “office”), officially established under the Intellectual 
property office of Singapore Act 2001 (no. 3 of 2001) on 1 April 2001, is domiciled in Singapore. the 
office’s place of business is situated at 51 Bras Basah Road #04-01 Manulife Centre, Singapore 189554.

the principal activities of the office are:

(a)    administering the systems of protection of intellectual property (“Ip”) in Singapore;
(b)     formulating and reviewing of Ip rights policies and legislations;
(c)    maintaining and disseminating of Ip information and documents;
(d)    representing the Government internationally on Ip matters;
(e)    nurturing and training of Ip agents;
(f)      co-operating with other organisations and Ip offices on Ip programmes; and 
(g)   promoting the awareness and effective use of Ip rights.

the principal activities of the subsidiaries are described in note 18 to the financial statements.

the financial statements of the office for the year ended 31 March 2014 were authorised for issue by the 
Board of Directors on 31 July 2014.

2  summary of significant accounting policies
 
2.1    Basis of preparation

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis except as 
disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 
the Intellectual property office of Singapore Act 2001 (no. 3 of 2001) and Statutory Board Financial 
Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). the SB-FRS includes Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards, 
Interpretations of SB-FRS and SB-FRS Guidance notes as prescribed by the Accountant-General.

the preparation of the Group and office’s financial statements in conformity with SB-FRS requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also 
requires the use of certain accounting estimates and assumptions.  the areas involving a higher degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

the financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars which is the Group and the office’s functional 
currency.

Interpretations and amendments to published accounting standards effective for the financial year 
ended 31 March 2014

on 1 April 2013, the Group adopted the new or amended SB-FRS and Interpretations to SB-FRS (Int SB-
FRS”) that are mandatory for application from that date. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have 
been made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective SB-FRS and Int 
SB-FRS.

the adoption of these new or amended SB-FRS and Int SB-FRS does not result in substantial changes 
to the Group’s accounting policies and had no material effect on the amounts reported for the current 
or prior financial years.

2  summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2 new sB-frs and int sB-frs issued but not yet effective

the office and the Group have not adopted the following new or revised SB-FRSs and Int SB-FRSs that 
have been issued as of the reporting date but not yet effective. the office and the Group anticipate that 
the adoption of these SB-FRSs and Int SB-FRSs in future periods will not have a material impact on the 
office and the Group’s financial statements. 

SB-FRS no. title

effective for annual 
periods beginning on 
or after 

SB-FRS 27 (revised) Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2014

SB-FRS 28 (revised) Investments in Associates and Joint ventures 1 January 2014

SB-FRS 32 Amendments to SB-FRS Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures and presentation -32 offsetting of 
Financial Assets and Financial liabilities

1 January 2014

SB-FRS 110 (revised) Consolidated Financial Statements  1 January 2014

SB-FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint 
Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in
other entities: transition Guidance (Amendments 
to SB-FRS 110, SB-FRS 111 and SB-FRS 112)

1 January 2014

SB-FRS 111 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2014

SB-FRS 112 Disclosure of Interest in other entities 1 January 2014

2.3 revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

(i)   Registration fee
Registration fee is recognised when the registration service has been rendered. Revenue from renewal 
for trademark is recognised over the effective protection period of 10 years on a straight-line basis.     

       
(ii)    other fees and charges 

other fees and charges comprise of regulatory charges, conference and workshop service charges 
and membership fees. these are recognised when the relevant services have been rendered.

(iii)  Interest income 
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis by reference to the principal outstanding and at 
the effective interest rate applicable which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount.

(iv)  Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

notes to the finanCial stateMents
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

2  summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.4 employee Benefits

        (i)   Short-term employee benefits
Salaries and bonuses are recognised when the services giving rise to the payment obligation have 
been satisfactorily rendered by the employees.

         (ii)  Retirement Benefit Costs
payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense when 
employees have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. payments made to state-
managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central provident Fund, are dealt with as 
payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent 
to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

         (iii)    Employee leaves entitlements
employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up 
to the end of the reporting period.

2.5 government grants

Government grants utilised for the purchase of equipment are included in the statement of financial 
position as deferred capital grant account.

Deferred capital grants are recognised in the profit or loss over the periods necessary to match the 
depreciation of the assets purchased. on disposal of the equipment, the balance of the related grants is 
taken to the profit or loss to match the net book value of the equipment disposed.

Grants and contributions received for the purchase of equipment but which are not yet utilised are taken 
to the Capital Grants Received in Advance account.

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related 
costs which they are intended to reimburse, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable 
as reimbursements for expenses already incurred are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which 
they become receivable.

Grants are recognised only when there is reasonable assurance that the office would comply with the 
conditions attaching to those grants, and the grants would be received.

2.6 funds held on Behalf of others

Funds held on behalf of others such as the patent Agent Manpower Capability and Development Fund 
(“pAMCDF”) are set up to account for monies held in trust for external parties.

these funds are maintained separately from the office’s financial statements.

2 summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7  financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. the Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Classification
Financial assets are classified as “loans and receivables”. the classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

(i)  Loans and receivables
trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying 
the effective interest rate method, except for short-term receivables when the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.

De-recognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to received cash flows from the asset has 
expired. on de-recognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in 
other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. 

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised on the trade date 
i.e. the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are 
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established 
by regulation or convention in the marketplace concerned. 

Impairment of financial assets
the Group assesses at each of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence of 
impairment exists individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually 
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets 
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are 
individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be recognised 
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

notes to the finanCial stateMents
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

2  summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.7  financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has variable interest 
rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate. the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. the impairment loss 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance 
account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset.

to determine whether there is objective that an impairment loss on financial assets has incurred, the 
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can 
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not 
exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. the amount of reversal is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

2.8  financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance 
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
instrument. 

equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. the Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition. Financial liabilities are classified as other financial liabilities.

other financial liabilities like trade and other payables, are initially recognised at fair value, and 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expired. 

2 summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.9  fair value estimation of financial assets and financial liabilities
  

the carrying amount of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their 
fair value.

2.10  Cash and cash equivalents
  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank balances and deposits with the Accountant-General’s 
Department (“AGD”). Deposits with AGD refers to cash that is managed by AGD under Cash liquidity 
Management (“ClM”) as set out in the Accountant-General’s Circular no. 4/2009 Centralised liquidity 
Management for Statutory Boards and Ministries.

2.11 equipment 

(i)  Measurement
equipment is stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss. equipment held 
and utilised by the office while it was a department of the Ministry of law before its establishment as 
a statutory board were transferred at net book value to the office on 1 April 2001 and depreciated over 
their remaining useful lives.

(ii)   Depreciation
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the 
straight-line method, on the following bases:

years

office equipment, furniture and fittings 3 to 8 years

Computer equipment and software 2 to 5 years

leasehold improvements 3 years

no depreciation is charged on assets under construction.

low value assets costing less than $2,000 are fully depreciated in the month of purchase.

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements. the estimated useful lives, 
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the 
effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

(iii) Subsequent expenditures
Subsequent expenditures relating to equipment that has already been recognised is added to the 
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in excess of the standard 
of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to the office and the Group and 
the cost can be reliably measured. other expenditures is recognised as an expense during the financial 
year in which it is incurred.

(iv) Disposal
the gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of equipment is determined as the difference between 
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.
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intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

notes to the finanCial stateMents
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

2      summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.12 impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the 
management estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

2.13   Currency translation 
    

(a)   Functional and presentation currency
    Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that 

best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity 
(the functional currency). the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the financial statements 
of the office are presented in Singapore dollars, which is also the functional currency of the office.

    (b) transactions and balances
    transactions in a currency other than functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into functional 

currency using the exchange rates at the dates of transactions. Currency translation differences resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rate at the reporting period are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income.  

2.14   provisions 

provisions are recognised when the office and the Group have a present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of a past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

the amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

2      summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.14   provisions (continued)

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

the office and the Group review the provisions annually. If in their opinion, the provision is inadequate or 
excessive, due adjustment is made.

2.15    Contribution to Consolidated fund

the office is required to make contribution to the Government Consolidated Fund in accordance with 
the Statutory Corporations (Contribution to Consolidated Fund) Act, Chapter 319A and Finance Circular 
M37/2000. It is computed based on the accounting surplus of the office for each of the financial year at 
the prevailing corporate tax rate for the year of assessment. Contribution to consolidated fund is provided 
for on an accrual basis.

2.16    related parties

A related party is defined as follows:
(i)  A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Office if that person:

(a) Has control or joint control over the office;
(b)     Has significant influence over the Office; or
(c)   Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or office or of a parent of the 

office.

(ii)    An entity is related to the Group and the office if any of the following condition applies:
(a) the entity and the office are members of the same group (which means that each parent,    

subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
(b) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 

a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).
(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(d) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity.
(e) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the office 

or an entity related to the office. If the office is itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are 
also related to the office;

(f) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (i);
(g) A person identified in (i) (a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).
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intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

notes to the finanCial stateMents
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

2      summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.17   leases

leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks   
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i)   Finance lease
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the inception 
of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. the corresponding liability 
to the lessor is included in the balance sheet/statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation. 
lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 
achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged 
directly to profit or loss. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are 
incurred.

(ii)    operating lease
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating 
leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
recognised as a liability. the aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental 
expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

2.18 income tax

(i)   Current tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. the tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantially enacted by the date of the statement of financial position.

Current taxes are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income except that tax relating to items 
recognised directly in equity is recognised directly in equity.

(ii)    Deferred tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the date of  the 
statement of financial position between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except where the deferred 
tax arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit 
or loss.

the carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each date of the statement of financial position 
and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to 
allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. unrecognised deferred tax assets are 
reassessed at each date of the statement of financial position and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

2      summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.18 income tax (continued)

(ii)    Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted at the date of the statement of financial position.

(iii)  Goods and service tax (“GSt”)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax except:

Where the goods and services tax incurred in a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from 
the taxation authority, in which case the goods and services tax is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of goods and services tax included.

the net amount of goods and services tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is 
included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.19 Basis of consolidation

the consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the office and its subsidiaries 
as at the end of the reporting period. the financial statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the office.  Consistent 
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. they are de-
consolidated from the date on which control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intra-group balances, income and expense and 
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

2.20 dividends

Dividends proposed by the office are not accounted for in capital and reserves as an appropriation of 
accumulated surplus, until they have been declared by the office. When these dividends have been 
declared and approved by the office, they are recognised as a liability.

2.21   share capital

ordinary shares issued are classified as equity and are valued at the considerations received for the 
issuance of the shares.

equity injected by the Government for project funding, which is subject to the Capital Management 
Framework for Statutory Boards, is recognised in the financial year 2014 and 2013 when the office’s parent 
Ministry, Ministry of law approves the claims for reimbursement of project expenditure.
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intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

notes to the finanCial stateMents
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

2      summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.22 investment in subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the office has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In the office’s separate financial statements, shares in the 
subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for any impairment loss on an individual subsidiary basis.

3      Critical accounting Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is 
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. the estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management 
did not make any material judgements that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
the Group does not have any key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period 
that has a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

4   financial instruments, financial risks and Capital risks Management

Categories of financial instruments
the following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ S$ S$

financial assets

loans and receivables (including cash 
and cash equivalents) 109,078,827 89,839,474 107,603,457 89,637,197

financial liabilities

Amortised cost 22,893,476 17,155,901 25,389,312 16,962,051

Risk management is integral to the business of the Group. the Group has a system of control in place 
to create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. 
the management continually monitors the Group’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate 
balance between risk and control is achieved.

4   financial instruments, financial risks and Capital risks Management (continued)

Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparties will default on its contractual obligations resulting in 
a financial loss. the carrying amount of trade and other receivables, investments held in cash, fixed  
deposits and debts and equity securities represent the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has trade receivables due from a government body which 
accounts for approximately 82% (2013: 68%) of the trade receivables balance. However, no significant 
credit risk is expected to arise. the maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties 
fail to perform their obligations as at the end of financial year in relation to each class of recognised 
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the statement of financial position.

Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks and financial institutions which are regulated. the 
office entered into a cash pooling arrangement with a government body under a Centralised liquidity 
Management scheme (note 14). the office is of the view that the credit risk arising is minimal as the 
counterparty is a government body.

the deposits with Accountant-General’s Department (“AGD”) under Centralised liquidity Management 
are placed with high credit quality financial institutions and are available upon request.

Liquidity risk
the Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and bank balances deemed adequate 
by management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. 
the office’s funds are placed in bank deposits and a government body which have high liquidity.

the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are due within 1 year and is non-interest bearing. 

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and 
equity prices will affect the office’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

the office actively manages the market risk by placing deposits with Accountant-General’s Department 
(“AGD”) under Centralised liquidity Management.

Interest rate risk
the Group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes mainly from investments 
in fixed deposits. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. the interest rate for deposits with AGD are based 
on deposit rates determined by the financial institutions with which the cash are deposited and are 
expected to move in tandem with market interest rate movements.

no sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group does not expect any material effect on the Group’s 
profit or loss arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes to interest rates on interest bearing 
financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.
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4   financial instruments, financial risks and Capital risks Management (continued)
       

Foreign exchange risk
the foreign exchange risk arises mainly from collections for Madrid applications through the World 
Intellectual property office and payments for search and examination by international search authorities. 
the Group manages the risk by purchase of foreign forward exchange contracts where appropriate.

the following table represents the Group’s major currency exposure as at the end of the reporting 
period, expressed in Singapore dollars equivalent.

australian dollar euro swiss francs

the group s$ s$ s$

2014

trade and other receivables - - 739,425

trade and other payables (17,569) (14,821) -

(17,569) (14,821) 739,425
      

Australian dollar euro Swiss Francs

the Group S$ S$ S$

2013

trade and other receivables - - 637,600

Cash and cash equivalents - 1,055,470 -

trade and other payables (56) (833,200) -

(56) 222,270 637,600

us dollar euro swiss francs

the office s$ s$ s$

2014

trade and other receivables - - 739,425

trade and other payables (17,569) (14,821) -

(17,569) (14,821) 739,425

uS dollar euro Swiss Francs

the office S$ S$ S$

2013

trade and other receivables - - 637,600

Cash and cash equivalents - 1,055,470 -

trade and other payables (56) (833,200) -

(56) 222,270 637,600

4   financial instruments, financial risks and Capital risks Management (continued)

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk
A 5% strengthening of Singapore dollars against the following currencies at the reporting date would 
increase (decrease) the Group’s and office’s surplus before grants and contribution to Consolidated 
Fund by the amounts shown below. this analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

uS dollars 878 3 878 3

euro 741 (11,114) 741 (11,114)

Swiss francs (36,971) (31,880) (36,971) (31,880)

A 5% weakening of Singapore dollars against the above currencies would have had the equal but opposite 
effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables in 
particular interest rates, remain constant.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables, 
provisions and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term 
maturity of these financial instruments. 
 
Capital risk management policies and objectives 
the capital structure of the Group consists of share capital and accumulated surplus. the Group’s policy 
is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain shareholder, creditors and market confidence and 
to sustain future development of the business. the Group’s approach to capital management remains 
unchanged from 2013.

5   related party transactions

the office is a statutory board incorporated under the Intellectual property office of Singapore Act 2001 
(note 1). As a statutory board, all government ministries and departments, other statutory boards and 
organs of State are deemed related parties of the office.

 In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions 
took place between the Group and related parties at terms agreed between the parties.
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5   related party transactions (continued)

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Ministries and statutory Boards

-operating grants received from
   government 15,490,112 5,775,288 10,565,744 2,835,773

-Contributions to Consolidated 
   Fund 2,011,831 2,121,918 2,011,831 2,121,918

-equity component of government
   grant 328,771 284,606 328,771 284,606

-Amount due from

  -Trade 790,590 423,095 108,000 170,335

  -Non-trade - - 680,717 217,446

subsidiary

purchases of goods and/or services

  -Training course - - 363,676 115,282

  -Course development - - 249,510 -

  -Research - - 90,000 35,000

Sales of goods and/or services - - 67,930 118,488

loss on disposal of equipment - - 800 -

Development grant expense - - 461,832 -

Amount due from:

   -Trade - - 67,930 137,518

   -Non-trade - - 116,191 930,000

Amount due to:

  -Trade - - 377,721 32,098

  -Non-trade - - 1,722,017 1,528,591

Grant payable - - 461,832 -

operating grant received relates to grant received from Ministry of Finance for the Ip Financing and Ip 
valuation Scheme, the Intellectual property Management for public Agencies 2.0 programme (IpM-pA 
2.0), the setting up of the patent Search and examination unit, and Geographical Indications Registry.  

5   related party transactions (continued)
       

Compensation of key management personnel
the remuneration of members of key management during the year was as follows:

the group the office
2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Short-term employee benefits 3,821,122 3,926,304 3,446,170 3,926,304

post-employment benefits 235,934 229,696 212,257 229,696

long-term benefits 1,500 1,000 1,500 1,000

4,058,556 4,157,000 3,659,927 4,157,000

key management refers to employees designated as Directors and above who have the authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the office.

6   registration fees

the group the office
2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ S$ S$

trademarks 10,347,069 10,395,442 10,347,069 10,395,442

patents 19,810,935 19,631,209 19,810,935 19,631,209

Designs 774,517 777,625 774,517 777,625

Madrid 8,227,840 7,261,094 8,227,840 7,261,094

patent agent 62,970 63,550 62,970 63,550

Hague 60,106 45,483 60,106 45,483

plant varieties protection 3,200 - 3,200 -

39,286,637 38,174,403 39,286,637 38,174,403

7   employee benefit expenses

the group the office
2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Wages and salaries 19,200,435 15,298,332 17,212,769 14,377,972

employers’ contribution to defined 
contribution scheme 2,267,593 1,968,427 2,027,146 1,873,765

Staff welfare 270,757 285,781 254,228 279,698

Staff training 33,602 195,105 375,545 205,585

other staff expense 451,000 330,000 451,000 330,000

22,223,387 18,077,645 20,320,688 17,067,020

Wages and salaries include directors’ fee of s$83,142 (2013: S$112,777) paid by the Group and office 
during the year.
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8   operating surplus

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

operating surplus is net of:-

net foreign exchange loss 69,431 238,246 69,270 238,246

loss on disposal 169,845 8,618 173 8,618

Interest on finance lease 703 10,599 703 10,599

9   interest income

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Interest income 479,455 410,297 479,455 410,297

Interest income from deposits with Accountant General Department (AGD) amounts to S$446,021 
(2013: S$400,003).

10  deferred Capital grants (government)

the office and the group

2014 2013

s$ S$

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 84,087 114,796

Grants taken to statement of comprehensive income 
to match depreciation (28,830) (30,709)

Balance at the end of the financial year 55,257 84,087

presented in the statement of financial position as:

Current portion 28,830 28,830

noncurrent portion 26,427 55,257

55,257 84,087

11    provision for Contribution to Consolidated fund

this represents the contribution to be made to the Government Consolidated Fund in accordance with 
Section 3(a) of the Statutory Corporations (Contribution to Consolidated Fund) Act, Chapter 319A and 
Finance Circular Minute M37/2000. the amount to be contributed is based on 17% (2013: 17%) of the 
accounting surplus of the office.

12     income tax expense

the subsidiary companies of the office are subject to tax under Singapore income tax legislation.

(a)    Current tax expense

the office and the group

2014 2013

s$ S$

Current income tax expense - 56,600

the tax expense on profit differs from the amount that would arise using the Singapore standard rate of 
income tax due to the following:

the office and the group

2014 2013

s$ S$

Deficit before grants and before income tax expense (4,193,690) (1,199,436)

tax calculated at tax rate of 17% (2013: 17%) (712,927) (203,904)

Income tax expense on grants received and receivable 695,937 329,718

expenses not deductible for tax purpose 7,748 6,481

productivity and innovation credit (11,084) (14,251)

effect of partial tax exemption - (25,925)

tax rebate - (24,243)

unrecognised deferred tax assets 10,931 -

Deferred tax liability not provided 9,532 (9,532)

other 137 (1,744)

total income tax expense - 56,600

(b)    Movement in current tax liabilities 

the office and the group

2014 2013

s$ S$

Beginning of financial year 56,600 -

Income tax expense - 56,600

Income tax paid (56,567) -

end of financial year 33 56,600
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12      income tax expense (continued)

(c)    Deferred tax expense (income) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income includes:

the office and the group

2014 2013

s$ S$

excess of net book value of equipment over tax values 9,532 (9,532)

excess of tax values over net book value of equipment 10,931 -

Deferred tax liabilities not provided for (9,532) 9,532

unrecognised deferred tax assets (10,931) -

total deferred income tax (income)/expense recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income - -

(d)    Deferred tax balance in the statement of financial position includes:

the office and the group

2014 2013

Deferred assets/(liabilities): s$ S$

excess of net book value of equipment over tax values - (9,532)

excess of tax values over net book of equipment 10,931 -

Deferred tax liabilities not provided for - 9,532

unrecognized deferred tax assets (10,931) -

total deferred tax liabilities - -

13   share capital

the office and the group

2014 2013 2014 2013

no. of shares s$ S$

Beginning of the financial year 285,606 1,000 285,606 1,000

equity injection 328,771 284,606 328,771 284,606

end of the financial year 614,377 285,606 614,377 285,606

In november 2008, the Ministry of Finance implemented the Capital Management Framework which 
aims to sensitise Statutory Boards to the opportunity cost of capital utilised by the Statutory Boards to 
perform their functions. In the current financial year, a further equity of $328,771 (2013: $284,606) was 
injected to fund the establishment of the patent Search and examination unit. 

All issued shares are fully paid.  the shares carry neither voting rights nor par value.

14   Cash and cash equivalents

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ S$ S$

Deposits with Accountant General 
Department (“AGD”) 104,540,469 84,293,674 104,540,469 84,293,674

Cash and bank balances 1,763,747 1,511,899 642,722 375,331

Fixed deposits with financial 
institutions - 1,055,470 - 1,055,470

106,304,216 86,861,043 105,183,191 85,724,475
 

the interest rate of deposits with AGD, defined as the ratio of the interest earned to the average cash 
balance is 0.49% (2013: 0.52%) per annum.

the fixed deposits with financial institutions bear interest ranging from 0.03% to 0.08% (2013:0.01% to 
0.16%) per annum and for a tenure of approximately 2 to 10 days (2013: 1 to 10 days).

Significant cash and bank balances that are not denominated in the functional currency of the Group 
and office are as follows:

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ S$ S$

euro dollar - 1,055,470 - 1,055,470

15   trade receivables 

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ S$ S$

trade receivables 1,140,863 1,653,735 829,338 1,771,272

Accrued revenue 775,039 756,170 842,969 691,911

1,915,902 2,409,905 1,672,307 2,463,183

the average credit period on rendering of services is 30 days (2013: 30 days). 

trade receivables are non-interest bearing. they are recognised at their original invoice amounts which 
represent their fair value on initial recognition.

Information on the credit risk profile for trade receivables based on profile of type of customers and 
ageing analysis provided to key management are as follows:
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15   trade receivables (continued)

the maximum exposure to trade receivables at the reporting date (by type of customer) is:

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

By customers

     Government 1,023,832 423,095 788,717 387,781

     Corporate 892,070 1,986,810 883,590 2,075,402

1,915,902 2,409,905 1,672,307 2,463,183

the ageing analysis of the office’s and the Group trade receivables at the reporting date is as follows:

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

not past due 1,845,505 2,349,855 1,608,103 2,423,037

past due 0 to 30 days 68,828 46,660 64,066 39,159

More than 30 days 1,569 13,390 138 987

1,915,902 2,409,905 1,672,307 2,463,183

Based on historical default rates, the Group believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect 
of trade receivables not past due or past due up to 60 days. these receivables are mainly arising by 
customers that have a good record with the Group.

Significant trade receivable balances that are not denominated in the functional currency of the Group 
and office are as follows:

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Swiss franc 739,425 637,600 739,425 637,600

trade receivables includes amount due from subsidiaries amounting to S$67,930 (2013: S$137,518) is non-
interest bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

16  other receivables

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

other deposits 628,326 380,851 401,384 331,865

prepayments 261,517 31,737 187,531 29,820

Interest receivables 230,383 187,674 230,383 187,674

Deferred expenses 86,341 66,011 - -

Due from subsidiaries – non trade - - 116,191 930,000

1,206,567 666,273 935,489 1,479,359

other receivables and due from subsidiaries – non trade are non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable 
on demand.

17   equipment

the group office equipment,
furniture

and fittings

Computer
equipment

and software
assets under
Construction total

2014

Cost s$ s$ s$ s$

Beginning of financial year 3,256,130 22,971,512 2,371,479               28,599,121

Additions 549,662 285,115 1,126,155 1,960,932

Reclassification 334,750 6,500 (341,250) -

Disposal/Written off (360,851) (70,785) - (431,636)

end of financial year 3,779,691 23,192,342 3,156,384 30,128,417

accumulated depreciation

Beginning of financial year 1,699,372 22,254,707 - 23,954,079

Depreciation for the year 543,732 325,223 - 868,955

Disposal/Written off (170,147) (70,785) - (240,932)

end of financial year 2,072,957 22,509,145 - 24,582,102

Net Book Value

end of financial year 1,706,734 683,197 3,156,384 5,546,315
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17   equipment (continued)

the group office equipment,
furniture

and fittings

Computer
equipment

and software
assets under
Construction total

2013

Cost S$ S$ S$ S$

Beginning of financial year 2,807,633 23,666,980 2,318,888 28,793,501

Additions 353,709 525,894 746,047 1,625,650

Reclassification 608,406 85,050 (693,456) -

Disposal/Written off (513,618) (1,306,412) - (1,820,030)

end of financial year 3,256,130 22,971,512 2,371,479               28,599,121

accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 1,768,023 23,114,263 - 24,882,286
Depreciation for the year 438,682 444,403 - 883,085
Disposal/Written off (507,333) (1,303,959) - (1,811,292)
end of financial year 1,699,372 22,254,707 - 23,954,079

Net Book Value
end of financial year 1,556,758 716,805 2,371,479 4,645,042

office equipment, Computer

the office furniture equipment assets under

and fittings and software Construction total

s$ s$ s$ s$
2014
Cost
Beginning of financial year 3,126,504 23,004,377 2,371,479               28,502,360       
Additions 16,752 255,499 1,126,155 1,398,406
Reclassification 334,750 6,500 (341,250) -
Disposal/Written off (42,779) - - (42,779)

end of financial year 3,435,227 23,266,376 3,156,384 29,857,987

accumulated depreciation

Beginning of financial year 1,811,597 22,287,572 - 24,099,169
Depreciation for the year 399,116 318,117 - 717,233
Disposal/Written off (21,748) - - (21,748)

end of financial year 2,188,965 22,605,689 - 24,794,654

Net Book Value

end of financial year 1,246,262 660,687 3,156,384 5,063,333

17   equipment (continued)

the office

office equipment,
furniture

and fittings

Computer
equipment

and software
assets under
Construction total

S$ S$ S$ S$

2013
Cost
Beginning of financial 
year 2,807,633                      23,666,980                                  2,318,888                    28,793,501               
Additions 36,909 525,097 746,047 1,308,053
Reclassification 608,406 85,050 (693,456) -
Disposal/Written off (326,444)     (1,272,750)  -  (1,599,194)
end of financial year 3,126,504 23,004,377 2,371,479               28,502,360       

accumulated depreciation:

Beginning of financial year 1,768,023                     23,114,263             -                                24,882,286               
Depreciation for the year 363,734 443,605 - 807,339
Disposal/Written off  (320,160)  (1,270,296)  -  (1,590,456)
end of financial year 1,811,597 22,287,572 - 24,099,169

Net Book Value

end of financial year 1,314,907 716,805 2,371,479 4,403,191

the carrying amount of the office’s computer equipment and software includes an amount of S$289,897 
(2013: S$393,211) held under finance lease.

18   investment in subsidiaries

the office

2014 2013

s$ S$

unquoted equity shares at cost 2 -

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

name of companies principal activities

Country of 
business/

incorporation holding

2014 2013

% %

Ip Academy(a) Company to promote education and 
research in the field of intellectual 
property.

Singapore 100 100
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18   investment in subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows (continued):

name of companies principal activities

Country of 
business/

incorporation holding

2014 2013

% %

IpoS International(b) Company to market and export IpoS 
products and services to foreign 
entities and businesses, and to 
engage in activities and collaborative 
arrangements with strategic partners 
to support Singapore and/or IpoS. 

Singapore 100 -

(a)   A private company limited by guarantee. the financial statements are audited by RSM Chio lim 
llp.

(b)  For consolidation purpose, we have considered and taken in unaudited financial statements 
since audited financial statements of this subsidiary as of 31 March 2014 is not available. the 
company was incorporated on 28 February 2014 as a private company limited by shares.

19  trade payables 

the average credit period on purchases is 30 days (2013: 30 days). no interest is charged on the 
outstanding trade payables.

Significant trade payables that are not denominated in the functional currency of the Group and office 
are as follows:

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

euro 14,821 833,200 14,821 833,200

uS dollars 17,569 56 17,569 56

Included in trade payables of the office is an amount due from subsidiaries amounting to S$377,721 
(2013:S$32,098).
 
this amount is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

20  other payables 

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Accrued expenses 6,538,085 4,036,546 5,529,474 3,685,018

patent Cooperation treaty

  deposits (advances) 261,151 43,953 261,151 43,953

other deposits 15,360 12,360 1,260 1,260

Due to subsidiaries – non trade - - 1,722,017 1,528,591

6,814,596 4,092,859 7,513,902 5,258,822

Due to subsidiaries- non trade refers to the grant held on behalf of Ip Academy, a grant which is disbursed 
through the office. the grant is given by Ministry of law with the purpose of assisting Ip Academy in 
providing quality training programmes in Singapore.

Due to subsidiaries- non trade is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

21    deferred revenue

this represents unamortised balance of renewal fees for trademarks received in advance from applicants. 
Such deferred revenue is amortised over 10 years, being the period of renewals.

22  development grant/grant payable 

Grant payable refers to the development grant funding by the office to its subsidiary, Ip Academy 
(“IpA”). the development grant aims to assist IpA in its development plans to be the premier Ip training 
centre in the region so that it could set regional footprints and build up Singapore’s position as an Ip 
hub of Asia. It also provides a better alignment of the office with IpA, to set new directions in boosting 
Singapore as an Ip hub in the areas of Ip education, training, research, and thought-leadership. 

23  grant receivable/grants received in advance

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Beginning of the financial year 933,050 5,000 (66,950) 5,000

Received/receivable during

   the year 14,439,664 5,721,195 10,583,727 2,781,680

transfer to statement of 

   comprehensive income (9,488,496) (4,793,145) (6,770,788) (2,853,630)

end of the financial year 5,884,218 933,050 3,745,989 (66,950)
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intelleCtual property offiCe of singapore
and its suBsidiaries

notes to the finanCial stateMents
For the financial year ended 31 March 2014

23  grant receivable/grants received in advance (continued)

presented in the statement of financial position as: 

the group the office

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Grants Received in Advance 5,884,218 1,000,000 3,745,989 -

Grant Receivable - (66,950) - (66,950)

net 5,884,218 933,050 3,745,989 (66,950)

24  patent deposits

patent deposits are received for patent search and examination conducted by international search 
authorities.

25  finance lease

the office and the group

Minimum lease payments
present value of    minimum 

lease payments

2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Amount payable under finance lease:

Within one year 70,371 84,913 69,221 83,730

In the second to fifth year inclusive - 19,926 - 19,760

70,371 104,839 69,221 103,490

less: Future finance charges (1,150) (1,349) - -

present value of lease obligations 69,221 103,490 69,221 103,490

less: Amount due for settlement within

 12 months (shown under current liabilities) (69,221) (83,730)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months - 19,760
 

the office has taken up finance leases for the computer equipment and software with a lease terms 
of 3 years at zero interest. For the year ended 31 March 2014, the effective borrowing rate was 1.55% 
(1.55% in 2013). the office’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk is minimal due to its immateriality. All 
leases are on fixed repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental 
payments.

         the carrying amount of the office’s lease obligations approximates its fair value.

 the subsidiaries do not have any asset under finance lease arrangement.

26  dividends

the Statutory Board did not declare any dividend for the accounting surplus in Fy 2012 and Fy 2011.

At the Board Meeting on 31 July 2014, a final dividend of 98.47 cents per share amounting to a total of 
$605,000 will be recommended. these financial statements do not reflect this dividend, which will be 
accounted for in shareholders’ equity as an appropriation of accumulated surplus in the financial year 
ending 31 March 2015.

27  Commitments

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure which has been approved by the Group and office and contracted for but not 
provided for in the financial statements is as follows:

the office and the group
2014 2013

s$ S$

Development in-progress 7,323,849 6,945,383

Operating lease commitment
At the end of the reporting period, the office has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases which fall due as follows:

the group the office
2014 2013 2014 2013

s$ S$ s$ S$

Within one year 3,392,993 2,534,544 2,963,768 2,344,320

In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,696,496 1,298,274 1,481,884 1,187,310

5,089,489 3,832,818 4,445,652 3,531,630

operating lease payments represent rental payable by the office for office premises. leases are 
negotiated for an average of six years and rentals are fixed for the duration of the leases.

28  funds held on Behalf of others

the office and the group
2014 2013

s$ S$

patent Agent Manpower Capability Development Fund 5,474 5,474

these funds refer to the patent Agent Manpower Capability Development Fund which is a funding 
arrangement between the office and Ministry of law, and are maintained separately from the office’s 
financial statements. this project seeks to develop Singapore’s manpower capability in patent agent 
services by developing an advanced patent drafting course and implementing a co-funding scheme to 
support experienced foreign patent agents for two-year stints to provide mentorship and training for 
patent agent trainees in Singapore. the aim of these efforts is to eventually build up a pool of specialist 
patent agents which could serve not just the Singapore market but also regional markets.
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